STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

JUL 23 2018

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from Sumter County  
George C. James, Circuit Court Judge

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

RODNEY R. GREEN,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2015-002443

\_\_\_\_\_  
FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT  
\_\_\_\_\_

SUSAN B. HACKETT  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. Did the trial judge err in failing to direct a verdict of acquittal where the state failed to present any direct evidence or substantial circumstantial evidence that Appellant acted with a specific intent to kill as required to prove attempted murder?

II. Violating Appellant's federal and state constitutional right to require the state to prove every element of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt, did the trial judge err by instructing the jury regarding the doctrine of transferred intent for the offense of attempted murder, which requires a specific intent to kill, in light of the requirement of only general intent for murder?

III. Did the trial judge err in failing to grant Appellant's motion for mistrial, or instruct the jury to disregard expert testimony regarding ballistics, where the police officer who found the shell casings at the scene did not testify and no other witnesses could testify that the shell casings introduced at trial or tested by the expert were the shell casings found at the scene, which violated Appellant's rights under the Sixth Amendment's Confrontation Clause?

**STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

During its July 2014 term, a Sumter County grand jury issued a multi-count indictment charging Appellant with murder, attempted murder, possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, and possession of a stolen handgun (2014-GS-43-0524). R. 706-707. The state, represented by Ernest A. Finney, III, called the case to trial before the Honorable George C. James and a jury on November 9, 2015. R. 1. Charlie Johnson represented Appellant. R. 1. The jury found Appellant guilty as charged. R. 688, ll. 7-19. On November 13, 2015, Judge James sentenced Appellant to life imprisonment without the possibility for parole for murder, to thirty years' imprisonment for attempted murder, to five years' imprisonment for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, and to time served for possession of a stolen pistol. R. 696, ll. 9-17; R. 708-711.

On November 16, 2015, Appellant filed and served his notice of appeal. This brief follows.

## ARGUMENT

I. The trial judge erred in failing to direct a verdict of acquittal where the state failed to present any direct evidence or substantial circumstantial evidence that Appellant acted with a specific intent to kill as required to prove attempted murder.

### **Relevant facts**

#### *Testimony*

In March 2014, Appellant and Lavitra Harvin were involved in a romantic relationship. R. 14, ll. 3-5. On March 15-16, 2014, the two went to an “all white” party, where the guests dressed in all white. R. 14, ll. 10-24. At 1:45 a.m., she left the party and went to Club Miami with her girlfriends. R. 14, ll. 7-19. A fight broke out inside the club, so she, her friends, and most of the other club’s patrons went outside. R. 18, ll. 9-19. The commotion continued outside. R. 19, ll. 21-23. Harvin heard gunshots, and dropped down by a black truck for safety. R. 20, ll. 9-15. She then saw a man named Ray’Quann Jenkins run by her saying he had been shot. R. 20, ll. 16-23. Harvin then looked up and saw gunfire coming from behind the truck. R. 20, ll. 11-14; R. 25, ll. 9-10. However, she could not see who was firing the gun – the scene was total chaos. R. 25, l. 23 – R. 26, l. 1. Harvin saw Appellant running. R. 26, ll. 3-8. Shortly after seeing Appellant run by, Harvin went home. R. 30, ll. 2-11.

The state impeached Harvin with a statement she gave to law enforcement. According to the written statement, Harvin told police that she saw Appellant fire a handgun and run. R. 36, ll. 20-25. Harvin explained that the police pressured her to say she saw Appellant fire the handgun. R. 44, ll. 8-10. Specifically, the questioning officer threatened to arrest Harvin and take her children. R. 44, ll. 11-13; R. 46, ll. 3-13. Initially, Harvin told the police officer the truth – she never saw Appellant shoot a gun, and only heard gunshots. R. 47, ll. 1-5. The officer

was not satisfied this this answer and threatened to arrest Harvin and take away her children in order to force Harvin to say she saw Appellant with a gun. R. 47, ll. 1-5; R. 48, ll. 3-11; R. 52, ll. 18-20; R. 580, ll. 1-3. The officer who interrogated Harvin, Melissa Addison, initially denied threatening Harvin that she would lose her children if she did not cooperate. R. 364, l. 17 – R. 365, l. 4. The judge ordered a break for the parties to review the video of the Harvin’s interrogation. R. 365, l. 5 – R. 366, l. 5. At the conclusion of the break, the state assured the judge that the issue had been “worked out.” R. 366, ll. 6-13. When Addison resumed testifying, she explained:

The only thing I’d like to add is that, if it was stated, it wasn’t as a way to threaten her. It would b[e] an investigative tool, because it’s actually could be a possibility, if one does have children, if you don’t tell the truth, and we find out that you did in that, it could be some pending charges. Of course, if you have children and you’re charged, then the children are going to have to someone to take care of them. So it was a possibility.

R. 367, ll. 9-18. Addison was adamant that her statements to Harvin regarding the loss of her children was not a threat, but was simply “a reality of what could happen.” R. 367, l. 21 – R. 368, l. 1. Finally, she conceded the person hearing such may perceive it has a threat. R. 368, ll. 2-6.

Ray’Quann Jenkins and his friend, Tyrese Archie, were at Club Miami on March 16, 2014, as well. R. 60, ll. 2-9. After having a few drinks, Jenkins and Archie planned to leave. R. 68, ll. 8-15. On the way out of the club, they ran into some of Archie’s cousins who were fighting in the parking lot. R. 68, ll. 13-22. Jenkins and Archie tried to defuse the situation. R. 72, ll. 8-21. Jenkins claimed the fight broke up, and he and Archie waited for their ride. R. 74, ll. 1-7. Three unknown men approached Archie. R. 75, ll. 2-13. The men “tried to jump” Archie, but Jenkins intervened. R. 75, ll. 14-25. Despite Jenkins’ efforts, Archie and one of the men started fist-fighting. R. 76, ll. 5-15. While Archie and the man were on the ground fighting,

Jenkins saw four or five other men approaching. R. 77, ll. 1-4. Jenkins claimed he also saw Appellant “coming in between and saying, watch out.” R. 78, ll. 3-6. He further claimed Appellant reached “in his shirt to pull out a weapon.” R. 79, l. 25 – R. 80, l. 1.

Jenkins turned to pick up Archie from the ground, and heard Appellant say “watch out.” R. 80, ll. 12-16. He then heard the first gunshot. R. 80, ll. 16-17. Jenkins claimed the first shot hit him causing him to fall forward. R. 82, ll. 3-6. Although Jenkins claimed he saw Appellant shot him, he also stated Appellant simply pointed the gun in his direction – he could not say Appellant pointed at him deliberately. R. 105, ll. 4-7. After the first shot, he saw Archie running away from him. R. 83, ll. 17-21. Jenkins claimed he heard two or three more shots ring out, and further claimed Appellant was the shooter. R. 83, l. 22 – R. 84, l. 8. Jenkins did not see Archie get shot. R. 85, ll. 24-25. Although Jenkins gave a statement to the police shortly after the shooting, he did not identify Appellant as the shooter. R. 108, ll. 14-18; R. 109, l. 25 – R. 110, l. 9. It was not until the week before the trial that Jenkins claimed he could identify Appellant as the shooter. R. 110, ll. 10-13; R. 112, ll. 19-23.

Archie’s cousin, Demetrice “Diamond” Brooks, was at Club Miami as well. R. 143, ll. 5-25. She was with her cousins, Auntachie Blanding and Shataeja Rivers. R. 144, ll. 4-11; R. 189, ll. 19-22; R. 190, ll. 9-19. When people started fighting in the club, Diamond and Auntachie walked outside. R. 147, ll. 20-23; R. 191, ll. 8-14. The fighting continued outside. R. 148, ll. 15-18; R. 191, ll. 15-20. Diamond and Auntachie saw Archie telling me people to leave. R. 149, ll. 7-15; R. 191, ll. 21-22. However, Diamond did not see Archie fighting anyone. R. 172, l. 8 – R. 173, l. 21. While walking to Auntachie’s car, Diamond claimed she saw Appellant shooting at someone. R. 153, ll. 3-19. Auntachie claimed she also heard gunshots, but did not allege that Appellant was the shooter. R. 193, ll. 3-4; R. 193, ll. 19-20. In fact, Auntachie denied even

seeing Appellant at the club that night. R. 205, ll. 13-15. Diamond could not see if Appellant's shots struck anyone or if he was aiming at anyone at all. R. 153, ll. 13-14; R. 156, ll. 14-23. While the cousins were leaving, they heard additional gunshots. R. 154, ll. 23-24. Diamond and Auntachie saw Carter Man firing two pistols and blocking their exit. R. 155, ll. 4-18; R. 157, ll. 3-6; R. 157, ll. 19-25; R. 200, ll. 4-13; R. 202, ll. 20-22. In fact, Man shot at their car. R. 166, ll. 14-19; R. 204, l. 18. Although Diamond was questioned by police three days after the shooting, she never mentioned Appellant. Instead, she went to the police a month later at the insistence of her aunt to say she saw Appellant shooting a gun. R. 160, l. 6 – R. 164, l. 6.

Another of Archie's cousins was at the club that night – Davontae Blanding. R. 217, l. 24 – R. 218, l. 8. Blanding also saw individuals fighting in the club. R. 220, ll. 4-8. He was part of the crowd pushed out by the security guards. R. 220, ll. 9-14. The fighting continued outside. R. 220, ll. 19-21. Blanding heard Archie encouraging others to leave the club. R. 221, ll. 15-21. After Archie walked away, Blanding heard gunshots. R. 224, l. 24 – R. 225, l. 1. Blanding claimed he saw a young lady running toward Appellant, "screaming, don't do it." R. 224, ll. 2-6.<sup>1</sup> Blanding looked toward the young lady screaming and saw Appellant raise his arm and start shooting. R. 233, l. 24 – R. 234, l. 3. Blanding did not see the bullet – he did not see Appellant shoot Archie. R. 234, ll. 1-2; R. 241, ll. 24-25. Blanding heard four of five shots. R. 234, ll. 21-22. Archie began running after the shooting, and Blanding followed him. R. 236, ll. 10-14. He followed Archie until he collapsed behind the club. R. 236, ll. 16-17.

Security officer, Myron Conyers, told a very different story regarding the shooting. Around 2 a.m., a fight broke out inside the club. R. 252, l. 16-19. The bouncers removed the

---

<sup>1</sup> Blanding did not know Appellant and was only aware of his name after the police informed him of Appellant's name. R. 226, ll. 17-20. However, Washington claimed he knew Appellant and recognized him when he was arrested. R. 289, ll. 16-18.

people who were fighting to outside the club. R. 252, l. 19-25. Conyers separated one individual from the crowd in an attempt to calm him. R. 253, ll. 1-5. Another security officer, Patrick Washington, heard one of the fighters say he was going to retrieve a gun and then walk toward a truck. R. 287, ll. 12-14. Washington followed the fighter to his truck. R. 287, l. 14.

Conyers noticed someone appear "from the fence line" and fire a shot. R. 253, ll. 5-7. There was a pause, then two more shots fired into the crowd. R. 253, ll. 7-8. The person turned and ran. R. 253, ll. 8-9. Washington was still dealing with the fighter when he heard between four and six shots ring out. R. 287, ll. 19-21; R. 300, l. 15 – R. 301, l. 6. Washington claimed he saw someone dressed in all white shooting. R. 287, ll. 21-22. Conyers and Washington chased the person. R. 253, ll. 9-12; R. 287, ll. 23-25. As Washington continued to chase the individual, Conyers used his flashlight to signal their location to a police officer driving nearby. R. 253, ll. 13-19. Washington and the officer later caught up with the person. R. 253, ll. 23-25. Washington claimed the person appeared to throw something shortly before Washington tackled him. R. 288, ll. 13 – 20.

The police arrived at Club Miami around 2:50 a.m. R. 118, ll. 9-18. The police chased Appellant across a field adjacent to the club and arrested him. R. 118, l. 19 – R. 119, l. 18. The police found a handgun approximately twenty feet away from where Appellant was arrested. R. 136, ll. 7-13; R. 138, ll. 8-10; R. 320, ll. 11-17. The gun was later determined to be a Smith & Wesson .45 auto caliber. R. 377, l. 23 – R. 378, l. 2. Upon his arrest, Appellant was interrogated by the police. R. 536, ll. 19-21. Appellant admitted being at Club Miami, but denied shooting anyone. R. 541, ll. 1-10. He heard people fighting and heard gunshots, but denied taking part in those activities. R. 541, ll. 1-10. He explained he was running because he heard gunshots. R. 541, ll. 1-10.

The police found three cartridge casings<sup>2</sup> at the scene, which were compared with test fires from the recovered gun. R. 383, ll. 14-18. Michele Eichenmiller, a firearms examiner, opined the three fired cartridge cases were fired by the recovered firearm. R. 383, ll. 19-22. Upon Appellant's arrest, the police also tested his hands for gunshot residue. R. 543, ll. 11-16. The state's trace evidence expert claimed she found "gunshot residue" on Appellant's right palm. R. 414, ll. 4-6. She explained that in conducting a gunshot residue analysis, she is "looking for a population of particles." R. 414, ll. 20-21. She emphasized that "one or two particles by themselves may not hold necessarily as much weight as if you found a bunch of three component GSR particles with some round lead particles or some round antimony particles with them to back them up and support them. R. 414, l. 21 – R. 415, l. 1. On cross-examination, she revealed she found only two particles on Appellant's hand. R. 420, ll. 20-22.

The pathologist found no bullets or metal fragments in the body of Archie. R. 491, ll. 1-3. She located an entry and exit wound, however. R. 491, ll. 4-6. The bullet entered through the left upper chest and went through the left lung, causing hemorrhaging. R. 491, ll. 10-19. The exit wound was in the left back. R. 491, ll. 20-22. She estimated the wound was likely caused by a medium caliber bullet, "which could be 38 or a 357." R. 492, l. 20 – R. 493, l. 1. She distinguished those calibers from a 45 caliber round, which she considered large. R. 494, ll. 20-24.

*Motion for directed verdict*

---

<sup>2</sup> Appellant challenges whether the state proved the cartridge casings tested by SLED were the cartridge casings found at the crime scene in light of the state's failure to call as a witness the officer who allegedly collected the cartridge cases in order to establish a chain of custody. See Issue III. Appellant does not abandon that issue by including the ballistics testing in this factual recitation. Rather, Appellant includes the results of the ballistics testing as that was evidence considered by the trial judge at the directed verdict stage regardless of the propriety of the admission of such evidence.

Appellant moved for a directed verdict on the attempted murder charge based on the state's failure to present evidence that Appellant shot Jenkins with specific intent. R. 593, ll. 3-13. Appellant noted there was no medical evidence or other evidence to indicate Jenkins was actually shot – on the word of Jenkins. R. 593, ll. 3-13; R. 596, ll. 3-17. The judge denied the motion. R. 598, ll. 12-17.

### **Discussion**

Recently, the South Carolina General Assembly created the crime of attempted murder. Lawmakers defined the offense as: “A person who, *with intent to kill*, attempts to kill another person with malice aforethought, either expressed or implied, commits the offense of attempted murder.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-29 (emphasis added). The statute became effective on June 2, 2010. According to the Act, attempted murder replaced the common law crime of assault and battery with intent to kill: “wherever in the 1976 Code reference is made to the assault and battery with intent to kill, it means attempted murder as defined in Section 16-3-29.” 2010 Act No. 273, § 7.C. Thus, the General Assembly was aware of the prior offense of assault and battery with intent to kill and the case law defining the common law offense.

Under the South Carolina common law, assault and battery with intent to kill was defined as “an unlawful act of a violent nature to the person of another with malice aforethought, either express or implied.” State v. Hinson, 253 S.C. 607, 611, 172 S.E.2d 548, 550 (1970). Although assault and battery with intent to kill was a common law offense, a statute provided for its punishment: “The crime of assault and battery with intent to kill shall be a felony in this state and any person convicted of such crime shall be punished by imprisonment not to exceed twenty years.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-620 (2009).

In State v. Foust, 325 S.C. 12, 479 S.E.2d 50 (1996), the South Carolina Supreme Court analyzed the offense of assault and battery with intent to kill and discussed the required elements of the offense. Based upon the traditional comparison of assault and battery with intent to kill to murder – that the offense would have been murder had the victim died – and the lack of a specific intent requirement for murder, the Court held “the logical inference is that, likewise, a specific intent is not required to commit” assault and battery with intent to kill. Id. at 14-15, 479 S.E.2d at 51. The Court explained that although the offense required both an intent to kill and malice, the offense did not require a specific intent to kill. Id. at 15, 479 S.E.2d at 51. Thus, the Court held it sufficient “if there is some general intent, such as that heretofore applied in cases of murder in this state.” Id.

In State v. Sutton, 340 S.C. 393, 398, 532 S.E.2d 283, 286 (2000), the South Carolina Supreme Court refused to recognize the offense of attempted murder. The Court explained that an attempt to commit murder requires a specific intent to kill. Specifically, the Court stated “[i]n general, ‘[a]ttempt is a specific intent crime.’” Id. at 397, 532 S.E.2d at 285 (citing 21 Am.Jur.2d Criminal Law § 176 (1998)). Further, the Court explained “[t]he act constituting the attempt must be done with the intent to commit that particular crime.” Id. (quoting 21 Am.Jur.2d Criminal Law § 176). “In the context of an ‘attempt’ crime, specific intent means that the defendant consciously intended the completion of acts comprising the choate offense.” Id. at 397, 532 S.E.2d at 285. The Court then distinguished attempted murder from assault and battery with intent to kill: “Attempted murder would require the specific intent to kill and conduct towards that end. ABIK requires an unlawful act of violence to the person of another with malice. Clearly, each offense has an element the other does not.” Id.

Repeatedly, South Carolina's appellate courts have held that attempt crimes require specific intent to complete the acts comprising the principal offense. See e.g., State v. Green, 397 S.C. 268, 283, 724 S.E.2d 664, 671-672 (2012); State v. Reid, 393 S.C. 325, 329, 713 S.E.2d 274, 276 (2011); State v. Evans, 216 S.C. 328, 332, 57 S.E.2d 756, 758 (1950); State v. Quick, 199 S.C. 256, 19 S.E.2d 101 (1942); State v. Atieh, 397 S.C. 641, 725 S.E.2d 730 (Ct. App. 2012); State v. Nesbitt, 346 S.C. 226, 231, 550 S.E.2d 864, 866 (Ct. App. 2001).

The cardinal rule of statutory construction is to ascertain and give effect to the intent of the legislature. Charleston County Sch. Dist. v. State Budget and Control Bd., 313 S.C. 1, 5, 437 S.E.2d 6, 8 (1993). Under the plain meaning rule, courts should not alter the meaning of a clear and unambiguous statute. In re Vincent J., 333 S.C. 233, 235, 509 S.E.2d 261, 262 (1998) (citations omitted). Where the statute's language is plain and unambiguous, conveying a clear and definite meaning, the rules of statutory interpretation are not needed and courts should not impose another meaning. Id. (citing Paschal v. State Election Comm'n, 317 S.C. 434, 454 S.E.2d 890 (1995)). "What a legislature says in the text of a statute is considered the best evidence of the legislative intent or will. Therefore, the courts are bound to give effect to the expressed intent of the legislature." Hodges v. Rainey, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 533 S.E.2d 578, 581 (2000).

The clear and unambiguous meaning of the statute concerning attempted murder is a requirement of specific intent: "A person who, *with intent to kill*, attempts to kill another person with malice aforethought, either expressed or implied, commits the offense of attempted murder." S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-29 (emphasis added). Any statutory ambiguity is resolved by a review of South Carolina's case law demonstrating the legislature intended to require a specific intent to kill when it created attempted murder. The Supreme Court had held repeatedly that attempted murder

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