STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Sumter County
The Honorable George C. James, Circuit Court Judge
Appeal Case No. 2015-002443

RECEIVED

MAR 23 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

RODNEY R. GREEN,

APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

J. ROBERT BOLCHOZ
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

ALPHONSO SIMON JR.
Assistant Attorney General
South Carolina Attorney General's Office
PO Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-6305

ERNEST A. FINNEY, III
Solicitor, Third Judicial Circuit
P.O. Box 836
Sumter, SC 29150-0836

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court did not err in denying Green's motion for a directed verdict for the attempted murder charge.

The trial court properly denied Green's motion for a directed verdict as it related to his attempted murder charge. First, the argument that Green presents on appeal, that there was no evidence that Green had a specific intent to kill Jenkins, and thus the trial court improperly utilized the doctrine of transferred intent in determining there was sufficient evidence for the charge to go to the jury, is not preserved for appellate review. Second, the trial court properly considered transferred intent in determining a directed verdict was not warranted. The doctrine of transferred intent was applicable, and in light of the evidence presented that established Green shot Jenkins in his attempt to murder Archie, the motion for a directed verdict was properly denied.

A. What occurred at trial

At the close of the State's case, Green moved for a directed verdict upon the murder charge, the attempted murder charge, the possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime charge, and the possession of a stolen pistol charge. (R. pp. 588-602). In contending a directed verdict was warranted upon the attempted murder charge, Green argued that the only evidence presented by the State consisted of testimony from the victim stating that he believed Green shot him. (R. p. 593). Green contended that the State presented no other evidence, including medical evidence, indicating the victim was actually shot. While Green acknowledged the victim did say he was shot, the victim was not a medical expert and there was no medical evidence to support the allegation.

In response, the State argued the victim did talk about the injury and stated he was in the hospital for three weeks. (R. p. 594). Further, Jenkins, the attempted murder victim, testified he

was on a lot of medications because of the type of injury he sustained, and he noted that he was unable to walk or run away because he could not use his leg. (R. p. 594).

Regarding the identity of the shooter, the State noted Jenkins identified Green as the person who shot him, described the shooter as being dressed in all white. (R. p. 595). He also testified the shooter was brown skinned and had a low haircut, and he identified Green as the shooter in court. (R. p. 595). Defense counsel acknowledged that Jenkins testified he saw Green with a gun. (R. p. 596).

Green then reasserted that the basis for his motion was that the State had not presented any evidence Jenkins was shot.

However, Your Honor, I still go back to the point that the State has not presented any evidence that he was shot. That was his opinion he was shot. He was injured, but there was no evidence presented that was actually shot. There was no round recovered. There was no medical records entered. There was no testimony by anybody that he actually -- the wound that he received was a gunshot wound. And the State still has to prove, or show some evidence for the jury to do that. Other than that, you're asking the jury to speculate.

(R. p. 596, ll 7-17).

When asked by the trial court, Green admitted that he could not find any case that indicated a medical expert was required to testify to establish a victim suffered a gunshot wound. (R. p. 597). After further discussion, Green reiterated that the only person who testified that Green injured Jenkins was Jenkins. (R. p. 598). He noted that there was no other testimony that anybody said they saw Green even shoot Jenkins. (R. p. 598). In response, the trial court observed, "there is enough of direct and circumstantial evidence, number one, for the jury to conclude if it chooses to do so, that Mr. Green was the sole shooter, and that Mr. Jenkins was shot." (R. p. 598, ll 13-17).

Green further contended that he believed the jury would still have to conclude as one of the elements of attempted murder that Jenkins was actually injured. (R. p. 598). Green argued the State failed to provide evidence of an injury, and that would lead the jury to speculate about the injury. (R. pp. 598-99). He again asserted that the State did not present evidence as to what caused Jenkins' injuries. (R. p. 599).

B. Discussion

1. Green's argument on appeal is not preserved for appellate review. The specific argument was not presented to the trial court, and was not ruled upon by the trial court.

On appeal, Green contends the trial court erred in denying his motion for a directed verdict because the State "failed to present direct or substantial circumstantial evidence that Appellant acted with the specific intent to kill Jenkins." IBOA at p. 15. Specifically, Green contends the State was required to present evidence that Green had a specific intent to kill Jenkins, and the doctrine of transferred intent would not apply. This was not the argument presented at trial. At no point during the discussion of the motion for a directed verdict regarding the attempted murder charge did Green contend he was entitled to a directed verdict because the State failed to present evidence Green had a specific intent to shoot Jenkins. Instead, Green's argument at trial focused on whether the State presented evidence establishing Jenkins was injured and whether Jenkins' injuries were caused by Green.

Since Green did not present the argument raised on appeal to the trial court, the argument is not preserved for appellate review. See State v. Johnson, 363 S.C. 53, 58, 609 S.E.2d 520, 523 (2005) (stating an objection should be sufficiently specific to bring the exact error to the trial court's attention); State v. Adams, 354 S.C. 361, 380, 580 S.E.2d 785, 795 (Ct.App.2003); see State v. Perez, 334 S.C. 563, 565-66, 514 S.E.2d 754, 755 (1999) (issue not raised and ruled

upon by trial court is procedurally barred and not preserved for appeal); see also State v. Tucker, 319 S.C. 425, 428, 462 S.E.2d 263, 265 (1995) (party cannot argue one ground below and then another on appeal); State v. Kennerly, 331 S.C. 442, 455, 503 S.E.2d 214, 221 (Ct.App.1998) (“In reviewing a denial of directed verdict, issues not raised to the trial court in support of the directed verdict motion are not preserved for appellate review.”)(“A defendant cannot argue on appeal an issue in support of his directed verdict motion when the issue was not presented to the trial court below.”) State v. Bailey, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989) (“A party cannot argue one ground for a directed verdict in trial and then an alternative ground on appeal.”) see generally Staubes v. City of Folly Beach, 339 S.C. 406, 412, 529 S.E.2d 543, 546 (2000) (“It is well-settled that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial court to be preserved for appellate review.”); I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000) (holding an appellant must present both his issues and arguments to the lower court and obtain a ruling before presenting the issues and arguments on appeal); State v. Williams, 303 S.C. 410, 411, 401 S.E.2d 168, 169 (1991) (concluding appellate courts will generally not address an argument unless it was first raised to and ruled upon by the trial court).

2. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Green’s motion for a directed verdict upon the attempted murder charge. The State presented sufficient direct and circumstantial evidence to support the conviction.

In ruling on a motion for a directed verdict, a trial judge is concerned only with the existence of evidence, not with its weight. State v. Nichols, 325 S.C. 111, 122, 481 S.E.2d 118, 124 (1997); State v. Al-Amin, 353 S.C. 405, 411, 578 S.E.2d 32, 35 (Ct.App.2003) (citing State v. Gaster, 349 S.C. 545, 564 S.E.2d 87 (2002)). “[A] trial judge is not required to find that the evidence infers guilt to the exclusion of any other reasonable hypothesis.” State v. Cherry, 361

S.C. 588, 594, 606 S.E.2d 475, 478 (2004). A defendant is entitled to a directed verdict when the state fails to produce evidence of the offense charged. State v. Gaines, 380 S.C. 23, 32, 667 S.E.2d 728, 733 (2008).

A case should be submitted to the jury when the evidence is circumstantial “if there is any substantial evidence which reasonably tends to prove the guilt of the accused or from which his guilt may be fairly and logically deduced.” State v. Mitchell, 341 S.C. 406, 409, 535 S.E.2d 126, 127 (2000); see also State v. Williams, 321 S.C. 327, 332, 468 S.E.2d 626, 629 (1996). “The jury weighs the evidence but when there is an absence of evidence, it becomes the duty of the trial judge to direct a verdict....” State v. Schrock, 283 S.C. 129, 134, 322 S.E.2d 450, 452–53 (1984). Evidence must constitute positive proof of facts and circumstances which reasonably tends to prove guilt. Id. at 133, 322 S.E.2d at 452 (citing State v. Manis, 214 S.C. 99, 51 S.E.2d 370 (1949)). “Unless there is a total failure of competent evidence as to the charges alleged, refusal by the trial judge to direct a verdict of acquittal is not error.” State v. Irvin, 270 S.C. 539, 543, 243 S.E.2d 195, 197 (1978) (citing State v. Massey, 267 S.C. 432, 229 S.E.2d 332 (1976)). On appeal of the denial of a directed verdict of acquittal, this Court must look at the evidence in the light most favorable to the State. State v. Martin, 340 S.C. 597, 602, 533 S.E.2d 572, 574 (2000).

State v. Bostick, 392 S.C. 134, 139, 708 S.E.2d 774, 776-77 (2011). An appellate court may reverse a trial court’s denial of a motion for a directed verdict if there is no evidence to support the trial court’s ruling or if the ruling is based on an error of law. State v. Dantonio, 376 S.C. 594, 603, 658 S.E.2d 337, 342 (Ct.App.2008).

“A person who, with intent to kill, attempts to kill another person with malice aforethought, either expressed or implied, commits the offense of attempted murder.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-29.

As a preliminary matter, the State submits the crime of attempted murder should not be considered a specific intent crime, and, therefore, should only require a general intent to kill. The South Carolina Supreme Court is currently considering the issue of whether attempted

murder requires a specific intent to kill or only a general intent to act with malice aforethought.⁸ When the South Carolina Supreme Court determines attempted murder, like its predecessor ABIK, does not require proof of a specific intent to kill, the State will only be required to prove a general intent and Green's issue is without merit. Additionally, once it is determined to be a general intent crime, the theory of "transferred intent" is certainly applicable as it was for a common law charge of ABIK. See State v. Fennell, 340 S.C. 266, 276, 531 S.E.2d 512, 517 (2000) ("A person who, acting with malice, unleashes a deadly force in an attempt to kill or injure an intended victim should anticipate that the law will require him to answer fully for his deeds when that force kills or injures an unintended victim. Accordingly, we hold that the doctrine of transferred intent may be used to convict a defendant of ABIK when the defendant kills the intended victim and also injures an unintended victim.").

If the South Carolina Supreme Court affirms the Court of Appeals' decision in King, and finds the statutory attempted murder charge requires proof of a specific intent to kill, it does not eliminate the applicability of the doctrine of "transferred intent." In Fennell, the South Carolina Supreme Court cited with approval the case of Ochoa v. State, 981 P.2d 1201 (Nev.1999) and its rationale. Fennell, 340 S.C. at 276, 531 S.E.2d at 518. In Ochoa, the Court specifically applied "transferred intent" to all crimes where an **unintended victim** is harmed as a result of a defendant's **specific intent to harm an intended victim** regardless of whether the intended victim is injured. In that case, the Nevada Court found it was appropriate to charge defendant who killed the intended victim and injured a bystander with a stray bullet with murder and

⁸ At the time of this brief, the Supreme Court has held oral arguments in the case of State v. Raheem King, Appellate Case Number 2015-001278, and a decision is pending. The issue is whether by making attempted murder a statutory crime, did the legislature intend it to require proof of a specific intent to kill as opposed to retaining the common law requirements of ABIK, which only required a general intent to act with malice aforethought. See State v. Foust, 325 S.C. 12, 479 S.E.2d 50 (1996).

attempted murder. Ochoa, 981 P.2d at 1205 (“Since there was sufficient evidence that Ochoa intended to kill Ortiz, that intent may be transferred to the unintended victim, Smith. As Smith did not die, the appropriate charge was attempted murder.”). This is the same circumstance relating to attempted murder as is present in the instant case. The appropriate charge in this case, as in Ochoa, was attempted murder.

Furthermore, Green’s contention that the doctrine of transferred intent does not apply to attempted murder appears to be based upon the mistaken belief that specific intent can only exist as to one specific intended victim. This underlying belief is not supported by the plain language of the statute or by common law. In fact, case law reflects just the opposite. For example, in State v. Fennell, 340 S.C. 266, 531 S.E.2d 512 (2000), the South Carolina Supreme Court found a defendant who killed his intended target but also injured an unrelated third party in his shooting spree was guilty of murder of the intended victim and, using the doctrine of transferred intent, ABWIK of the third party. “A person who, acting with malice, unleashes a deadly force in an attempt to kill or injure an intended victim should anticipate that the law will require him to answer fully for his deeds when that force kills or injures an unintended victim.” Fennell, 340 S.C. at 276, 531 S.E.2d at 517. The Supreme Court explained the defendant’s mental state

is contained within the defendant’s brain when he commits the act. That mental state never leaves the defendant’s brain; it is not “transferred” from the defendant’s brain to another person or place. A more apt description might be that the mental state is like a spotlight emanating from its source—the defendant’s mind—to its target—the intended victim.”

Id. at 271, 531 S.E.2d at 515. Further, the “spotlight” was not extinguished at the moment a bullet strikes and killed the intended victim, but in that case shined on both victims. Id. at 271-72, 531 S.E.2d at 515. The court noted it would be “[in]appropriate” to limit the defendant’s

punishment and penalty to maximum punishment of ten years' imprisonment provided under that version of the State's ABHAN statute. Id. at 276, 531 S.E.2d at 518.

Similarly, the Supreme Court has found that the specific intent required to establish an attempt in the context of attempted criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the second-degree also did not require proof that the intent was tied to a specific victim.

“In the context of an ‘attempt’ crime, specific intent means that the defendant consciously intended the completion of acts comprising the choate offense.” State v. Sutton, 340 S.C. 393, 397, 532 S.E.2d 283, 285 (2000). Accordingly, “[t]o prove attempt, the State must prove that the defendant had the *specific intent* to commit the underlying offense, along with some *overt act*, beyond mere preparation in furtherance of the intent.” State v. Reid, 393 S.C. 325, 329, 713 S.E.2d 274, 276 (2011) (emphasis in the original).

State v. Green, 397 S.C. 268, 283, 724 S.E.2d 664, 671–72 (2012). In Green, the Supreme Court noted the defendant was not required to complete the sexual battery in order to be prosecuted and convicted for attempted CSC with a minor in the second degree. Id. at 284, 724 S.E.2d at 672. Further, the Supreme Court found the fact that the intended victim was not an actual minor was irrelevant as the State was only required to show the defendant had the intent to commit a sexual battery on a victim between the ages of eleven and fourteen coupled with some overt act toward the commission of the offense. Id.

This reasoning holds true with the offense of attempted murder. To establish Green was guilty of attempted murder, the State had to prove he had the specific intent “to kill another person with malice aforethought, either expressed or implied.” That the victim of the attempted murder was not the defendant’s intended murder victim is of no consequence as long as Green acted with the intent to murder someone when he fired the shots.

The State presented sufficient direct evidence and substantial circumstantial evidence to establish Green was guilty of attempted murder. First, the State established Green was, in fact,

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